RECEIVED

09-21-2016

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP001289-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARCUS L. PANTOJA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Carolina Stark, Presiding.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

ANDREA TAYLOR CORNWALL State Bar No. 1001431 Assistant State Public Defender

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST State Bar No. 1087502 Assistant State Public Defender

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Did the search warrant affidavit for 1100 South 1st Street in Milwaukee establish probable cause to search that residence, allegedly occupied by Marcus Pantoja?

The trial court answered yes.

2. Did the search warrant affidavit establish reasonable suspicion to support authorization of a "no-knock" execution of the search warrant?

The trial court answered yes.

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is not requested. While Mr. Pantoja does not request oral argument, he welcomes the opportunity to discuss the case should the Court believe that oral argument would be of assistance to its resolution of the matter.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A two-count information charged Mr. Pantoja with both possession of heroin with intent to distribute (>10-50 grams) and possession of a firearm by a felon. (5:1-2). Counsel for Mr. Pantoja filed a motion to suppress, challenging the dispositive search of Mr. Pantoja's alleged residence. (12:1-42). The trial court denied the motion in an oral ruling. (42:8). Mr. Pantoja subsequently pleaded guilty to both charges. (23:1). This appeal followed. (33:1).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

This case arises out of a drug investigation by local law enforcement. (12:33); (App. 113). As part of that investigation, law enforcement made several "controlled buys" using two confidential informants ("CIs"). (12:33); (App. 113). Based on the controlled buys and information supplied by the CIs, law enforcement applied for and obtained two search warrants. (12:31; 12:22); (App. 111). The first, drafted on January 17, 2014, targeted the location where the controlled buys had occurred, 1927 South Winona Lane, Upper Unit, in the City of Milwaukee. (12:22). The second, drafted on January 20, 2014, targeted a residence at 1100 South 1st Street, #3, in Milwaukee, where Marcus Pantoja allegedly resided with his girlfriend and her daughter. (12:31; 12:20); (App. 111). This second search warrant is the subject of this litigation.

Facts Presented in Search Warrant Affidavit

Marcus Pantoja is alleged to have participated in a drug conspiracy with his brother, Miguel Pantoja. (12:33); (App. 113). During the relevant timeframe, Miguel was living at 1927 South Winona Lane, Upper Unit, in the City of Milwaukee, where the drug sales are alleged to have occurred. (12:33); (App. 113). Marcus¹ listed the Winona Lane address as his legal permanent address. (12:40); (App. 120). However, at the time the second warrant application was drafted, the State represented that Marcus was residing at his girlfriend's residence at 1100 South 1st Street, #3. (12:33); (App. 113).

¹ For the sake of clarity, undersigned counsel will break with their usual practice and refer to the Pantoja brothers by their first names when doing so will avoid unnecessary confusion for the reader.

According to the search warrant affidavit for the South 1st Street address drafted January 20, 2014, CI #1 purchased heroin from Miguel at the Winona Lane residence within the preceding 5 days. (12:33); (App. 113).² During that sale, Miguel also discussed purchasing a handgun. (12:33); (App. 113). This was the third in a series of controlled buys targeting the Winona Lane residence. (12:33-35); (App. 113-115). CI #1 previously visited the Winona Lane residence at least once, purchasing heroin in October 2013 from an otherwise unidentified man known only as "Christian." (12:34); (App. 114). According to CI #1's hearsay statement, Christian was at that time employed by Marcus Pantoja.³ (12:34); (App. 114). Police witnessed Marcus standing on the porch leading into the home while that sale took place. (12:34); (App. 114). The affidavit characterizes Marcus as "overseeing" the sale. (12:34); (App. 114). His vehicle, along with a vehicle belonging to a woman identified as his girlfriend, was present at the Winona Lane address. (12:34); (App. 114).

A second confidential informant ("CI #2") also visited the Winona Lane residence sometime during the two weeks preceding the warrant's drafting. (12:35); (App. 115). On that occasion, the hand-to-hand sale was conducted by "Carlos." (12:35); (App. 115). Miguel was present during the transaction. (12:35); (App. 115). According to CI #2, Miguel was "coordinating" the sale. (12:35); (App. 115). The informant's hearsay statement, contained within the affidavit, states that Carlos works for "Pantoja." (12:35); (App. 115).

 $^{^{2}}$ The affidavit does not give actual dates for when the controlled buys are alleged to have occurred.

³ Note that in the original affidavit for the Winona Lane residence, the same information is included but the reference is generically to "Pantoja."

According to the search warrant affidavit, Marcus Pantoja ran the drug operation in conjunction with his brother Miguel. (12:33); (App. 113). The affidavit also asserted that the South 1st Street location was being used a "stash house" for the drug operation, with drug packaging occurring there. (12:33); (App. 113).

The only information directly relating to the South 1st Street address comes from CI #1. According to his hearsay statement, he transported Marcus from the residence on S. 1st Street to the Winona Lane address within the week preceding the search warrant. (12:35); (App. 115). CI #1 then transported Marcus to an undisclosed location where "they believed" he was making a large-scale heroin purchase. (12:35); (App. 115). CI #1 then transported Marcus back to the S. 1st Street location. (12:35); (App. 115). CI #1 did not go inside the residence, although he believed that Marcus conducted drug-related activities while inside. (12:35); (App. 115). After Marcus left the 1st Street address, CI #1 asserted that he drove him back to the Winona Lane residence. (12:35); (App. 115). CI #1 stated he observed bagged heroin on this return trip. (12:36); (App. 116). In return for his services, CI #1 asserted that Marcus paid him with a quantity of heroin. (12:36); (App. 116).

The affidavit contains other hearsay statements by both confidential informants relating to the relationship between the two residences. (12:36). According to the affidavit, (1) Miguel (2) told CI #1 who (3) told law enforcement that Marcus was living at the S. 1st Street residence in order to avoid a raid or a robbery at the Winona Lane address. (12:36); (App. 116). CI #2 stated that he heard similar remarks in his conversations with the Pantoja brothers. (12:36); (App. 116). CI #2 also claimed that he observed

Marcus transporting heroin in the past, although no further details are provided. (12:36); (App. 116).

The affidavit indicates that the informants correctly identified Marcus' vehicle. (12:36); (App. 116). It places Marcus in that vehicle near the Winona Lane residence. (12:36); (App. 116). The affidavit also presents corroborating evidence that the woman claimed to be Marcus's girlfriend was living at the S. 1st Street address. (12:36); (App. 116). Finally, it contains general assertions that the informants are credible and reliable based on their prior cooperation with law enforcement, including their cooperation in this case. (12:37-38); (App. 117-118).

No-Knock Provision of Warrant

The affidavit includes a "no-knock" request. (12:39); (App. 119). In support of their request, law enforcement made the following averments:

- "[D]rug traffickers are frequently armed with weapons";
- "[C]ontrolled substances are quickly and easily destroyed";
- CI #2 observed an unknown individual at the Winona Lane residence with a weapon "during previous heroin purchases";
- CI #2 observed an unknown individual with a weapon at the Winona Lane residence within the last 30 days;
- Law enforcement was aware of a conversation Miguel had within the last two weeks in which he attempted to purchase a firearm;

- "[A]ffiant believes that both Miguel...and Marcos [sic.]...freely travel between [both locations]; affiant knows that drug dealers will often carry firearms between a stash house and the residence where drugs are being sold."
- Both brothers had prior criminal convictions.

(12:39-40); (App. 119-120).

Trial Court Litigation

Defense counsel filed a motion to suppress, (12:1-42), which argued that the search warrant affidavit failed to establish probable cause with respect to the South 1st Street residence. (12:9-10). The motion also challenged the "no-knock" execution of the search warrant as constitutionally unreasonable. (12:10). The State filed a response brief. (13:1-12).

On December 4, 2014, the trial court held a nonevidentiary hearing and denied the motion in an oral ruling. (42:1,8); (App. 104, 106). With respect to probable cause, the court concluded that the reviewing commissioner "had a substantial basis, based on the affidavit for concluding that probable cause existed to issue the warrant." (42:9); (App. 106). The court cited the information contained in the affidavits provided by two confidential informants, "reportedly based upon first hand observation or conduct of one or both of the informants." (42:10); (App. 107). The court also noted that CI #1 had given information "against their penal interests." (42:10); (App. 107). There were also "specific details" in the statements derived from the CIs. (42:11); (App. 107). These three things—"basis of knowledge, statement against penal interests, amount of detail"-were all relevant and persuasive factors in the

court's "credibility" analysis. (42:12); (App. 107). As to reliability, the circuit court noted that some aspects of the CIs' story had been verified by law enforcement, including Marcus's presence at the Winona Lane address, and that his girlfriend resided at the South 1st Street residence. (42:13); (App. 107). The court also noted the recency of some of the information contained in the affidavit. (42:14); (App. 108).

As to the challenge to the no-knock execution, the circuit court ruled that:

"[T]here were a number of pieces of information that I find both allowed officers but also [the reviewing commissioner] not only to reasonably suspect that there would be a gun present at the address and that someone would be likely to arm themselves and put officer safety in danger. And actually, enough that they could conclude not only that it is reasonably suspected but that it would be probable or fairly probable that that would happen."

(42:15); (App. 108). That analysis focused on the averments dealing with firearms at the Winona Lane residence as well as an older firearm charge for Mr. Pantoja's girlfriend. (42:15-16); (App. 108).

This appeal followed.⁴ (33:1).

⁴ "An order denying a motion to suppress evidence or a motion challenging the admissibility of a statement of a defendant may be reviewed upon appeal from a final judgment or order notwithstanding the fact that the judgment or order was entered upon a plea of guilty or no contest to the information or criminal complaint." WIS. STAT. § 971.31(10).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Pantoja renews his challenge to the second search warrant's authorization and execution in this Court. First, Mr. Pantoja argues that the affidavit fails to establish probable cause with respect to the place searched—the South 1st Street location. Second, Mr. Pantoja argues that the affidavit fails to establish that the no-knock execution of the warrant was reasonable under the circumstances.

ARGUMENT

- I. The Affidavit in Support of the Search Warrant for Marcus Pantoja's Home Was Insufficient to Establish Probable Cause.
 - A. Legal standard.

Both the state and federal constitutions forbid the issuance of search warrants absent probable cause. U.S. CONST. AMEND. IV & XIV; WIS. CONST. Art. I, § 11. The two provisions offer "essentially identical" protections. *See State v. Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶55, 231 Wis.2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517.

The test that this Court uses in assessing the sufficiency of the search warrant below is outlined in *State v*. *Higginbotham*, 162 Wis. 2d 978, 989, 421 N.W. 2d 24 (1991):

A search warrant may issue only on a finding of probable cause by a neutral and detached magistrate. We accord great deference to the warrant-issuing judge's determination of probable cause and that determination will stand unless the defendant establishes that the facts are clearly insufficient to support a finding of probable cause. In reviewing whether there was probable cause for the issuance of a search warrant, we are confined to the record that was before the warrant-issuing judge The duty of the reviewing court is to ensure that the magistrate had a substantial basis for concluding that the probable cause existed.

Ultimately, this Court must ask "whether objectively viewed, the record before the warrant-issuing judge provided 'sufficient facts to excite an honest belief in a reasonable mind that the objects sought are linked with the commission of a crime, and that they will be found in the place to be searched." *Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶27 (citations omitted); *see also Illinois v. Gates*, 462 U.S. 213, 238 (1983).

It is well-settled that a court may rely on the hearsay statements of confidential informants in determining whether probable cause exists. *See Sanders v. State*, 69 Wis.2d 242, 258, 230 N.W.2d 845, 854 (1975). However, the confidential informant's "veracity" and "basis of knowledge" are relevant and important considerations in assessing whether their allegations establish probable cause. *Gates*, 462 U.S. at 238; *State v. Romero*, 2009 WI 32, ¶20, 317 Wis.2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756.

B. The affidavit fails to establish a "nexus" between the activities on Winona Lane and 1100 S. 1st Street.

Probable cause must be specific to the place searched. Gates, 462 U.S. at 238; Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶27. "Probable cause to believe that a person has committed a crime does not automatically give the police probable cause to search his house for evidence of that crime." State v. Marquardt, 2005 WI 157, ¶81, 286 Wis. 2d 204, 705 N.W.2d 878 (quoting Higginbotham, 162 Wis. 2d at 995).

In this case, the bulk of the search warrant affidavit for the South 1st Street address where police alleged Marcus Pantoja was residing is concerned with particularized allegations of drug trafficking that was occurring at an entirely distinct location-the Winona Lane residence primarily occupied by Miguel Pantoja. (12:33); (App. 113). The Winona Lane address was the only place where actual drug activity was directly observed and where the controlled heroin buys occurred. It is also the only residence into which either informant had ever been admitted inside and actually observed or participated in drug sales. On at least one occasion, the primary resident of that home-Miguel Pantoja-was present and "coordinating" the hand-to-hand sale of heroin. (12:35); (App. 115). A reviewing authority could fairly conclude, based on those asserted facts, that probable cause existed that the Winona Lane address was a place where "street level sales take place." (12:33); (App. 113). Based on the information contained in the search warrant affidavits, both informants had been at the Winona Lane address multiple times and had participated in illegal activities there.

Notably, however, according to the affidavits, Marcus Pantoja was not present at the Winona Lane residence for two out of the three controlled buys. (12:33-36); (App. 113-117). Marcus Pantoja is never described as actively participating in the hand-to-hand sale of drugs. On the contrary, the three drug transactions described in the affidavit all involve other drug sellers—two of whom are otherwise entirely unknown individuals with no apparent connection to the South 1st Street residence ("Christian" and "Carlos"). (12:33-36); (App. 113-117). Additionally, the search warrant affidavits lack any indication that Marcus Pantoja's brother, Miguel, was ever seen at, or had any connection to, the South 1st Street address at which the second search warrant affidavit alleged Marcus lived.

While the affidavit alleges that Marcus Pantoja was present at the Winona Lane address during one of the controlled buys, he was apparently seen by law enforcement on the porch rather than inside the house where the transaction occurred. (12:34); (App. 114). Thus, Marcus Pantoja's connection to the Winona Lane address appears minimal at best. There is no allegation in the search warrant affidavit that he had any direct interaction with either drugs or money during the controlled buy transactions at Winona Lane.

Thus far, the evidence is therefore suggestive but far from constitutionally probative. Even assuming, arguendo, that these otherwise weak facts and circumstances suggest Marcus is a drug dealer, that inference alone does not provide probable cause to search the separate residence at the South 1st Street address, where it was alleged he was residing with his girlfriend. Generalized allegations of criminality cannot supply the particularized probable cause required by the state and federal constitution with respect to that specific place. *See Ward*, 2000 WI 3, ¶36 ("In finding that the affidavit supplied sufficient facts from which to draw an inference of probable cause to search, we are not suggesting that when there is sufficient evidence to identify an individual as a drug dealer [...] that there is sufficient evidence to search the suspect's home.").

The requirement of a nexus between the place searched and the allegations of wrongdoing is critical. For example, in *State v. Sloan*, this Court found an insufficient nexus between the defendant's residence and alleged drug manufacturing. *State v. Sloan*, 2007 WI App 146, 303 Wis.2d

438, 736 N.W.2d 189. The Court found a lack of evidence that the defendant had been recently engaged in "any criminal activity at the residence to be searched [...]." Id., ¶31. In the Court's view, "there must be some factual connection between the items that are evidence of the suspected criminal activity and the place to be searched." Id.

United States v. Carpenter, 360 F.3d 591 (6th Cir. 2004) is also persuasive. In that case, law enforcement observed the cultivation of marijuana in an open field near the suspect's home. Id. at 594. There was a road between the field and the home. Id. However, these facts—standing alone—were insufficient to provide probable cause to search the residence. Id. Law enforcement needed more concrete observations, notwithstanding the suggestiveness of the bare facts. Id.

Here, the bulk of the allegations in the search warrant for the South 1st Street address center on activity at Winona Lane, with minimal information provided regarding any activity at the South 1st Street address, alleged to be Mr. Pantoja's residence.⁵ Assertions that Mr. Pantoja had unsavory associations or that he had overseen a drug sale at the Winona Street address —even an allegation that he had others working for him as part of a drug enterprise—cannot supply probable cause to search the South 1st Street address. The information provided fails to establish the required "nexus" between these allegations and that address. Nothing in the affidavit would enable a reasonable magistrate to take that leap.

⁵ There is also an allegation that his vehicle was involved in drug activities, however, the State plainly cannot argue that this vehicle was ever present inside the apartment searched.

C. The only evidence tying the South 1st Street residence to criminal activity comes from incredible, unreliable hearsay declarants who lack a sufficient basis of knowledge.

To that end, law enforcement does not solely rely on the activity at Winona Lane in its affidavit. The affidavit includes several pieces of information supporting a claimed linkage between the two addresses. However, that link is only provided by the hearsay statements of CI #1 and CI #2. Their statements lack indicia that could lead a reviewing magistrate to reasonably conclude that they had either a sufficient basis of knowledge or that they were otherwise credible and reliable. **Romero**, 2009 WI 32, ¶20.

1. Basis of knowledge.

"To demonstrate the basis of a declarant's knowledge, facts must be revealed to the warrant-issuing officer to permit the officer to reach a judgment whether the declarant had a basis for his or her allegations that evidence of a crime would be found at a certain place." *Id.*, ¶22. Merely conclusory allegations will not suffice. *United States v. Koerth*, 312 F.3d 862, 867 (7th Cir. 2002).

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