RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN **11-22-2016**

COURT OF APPEAL CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2016AP1289-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

MARCUS L. PANTOJA,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE CAROLINA STARK, PRESIDING

PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

DONALD V. LATORRACA Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1011251

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 267-2797 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) latorracadv@doj.state.wi.us

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Based on controlled buys of heroin and information from confidential informants, officers obtained two search warrants. On January 17, 2014, a commissioner issued the first warrant for the upper unit at 1927 South Winona Lane, Milwaukee. (12:22.) Three days later, another commissioner issued the second warrant for unit three in an apartment building located at 1100 South 1st Street in Milwaukee. (12:31.) The commissioner also authorized the officers to execute the 1st Street warrant in a "no-knock" manner. (12:31.)

Based on the evidence seized during the execution of the 1st Street warrant, the State charged Marcus Pantoja with possession of heroin with intent to deliver, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 961.41(1m)(d)3., and felon in possession of a firearm, in violation of Wis. Stat. § 941.29(2). (1:1.)

Pantoja moved to suppress evidence seized during the search of the 1st Street residence. (12.) First, he alleged that the affidavit in support of the search warrant did not state probable cause. (12:9-10.) Second, Pantoja contended that the officers did not have a "reasonable basis to execute [the 1st Street warrant] in a manner justifying dispensation of the knock-and-announce rule." (12:10.)

The circuit court denied Pantoja's motion. It concluded that Pantoja had not "met the burden of showing that the facts presented in the affidavit [for the 1st Street warrant] were clearly insufficient to sustain a probable cause finding." addition. the (42:9.) In circuit court upheld the decision commissioner's to authorize the "no-knock" execution of the warrant. (42:17.) Following the circuit court's denial of his motion to suppress evidence, Pantoja pled guilty to the charges of possession with intent to deliver heroin and possession of a firearm by a felon. (23:1.)

On appeal, Pantoja first argues that the search warrant affidavit failed to establish probable cause for the 1st Street residence. (Pantoja's Br. 8-16.) Pantoja has failed to demonstrate that the affidavit was clearly insufficient to support the commissioner's probable cause determination. The affidavit relies on information from two reliable informants who conducted controlled buys at the Winona Lane residence. The affidavit also establishes a nexus between Pantoja, his drug trafficking activity, and both the Winona Lane and 1st Street residences.

Second, Pantoja contends that the affidavit did not establish reasonable suspicion to support the commissioner's authorization for the warrant's "no-knock" execution at the 1st Street residence. The State disagrees. The affidavit establishes reasonable suspicion to support a no-knock execution of the search warrant. But even if it does not, suppression is not a remedy for a violation of the rule of announcement. Third, though not raised in his issues statement, Pantoja contends that the good faith exception to the exclusionary rule does not apply in his case. (Pantoja's Br. 1, 20-22.) Because the circuit court found that the search warrant affidavit stated probable cause and supported the no-knock authorization, it did not consider whether the good faith exception applied. Should this Court find that the affidavit was clearly insufficient to support the warrant's issuance or the no-knock authorization, it should remand the matter to the circuit court for a good faith determination.

ARGUMENT

I. The affidavit provided the probable cause necessary to support the commissioner's issuance of the search warrant for the 1st Street residence.

Pantoja argues that the affidavit was insufficient to establish probable cause for the search warrant at the 1st Street apartment. (Pantoja's Br. 8-16.) The circuit court reviewed the affidavit and found that it provided the commissioner with a substantial basis to issue the search warrant. (42:9, 14.) The affidavit supported the commissioner's probable cause determination and this Court should affirm the circuit court's denial of Pantoja's motion to suppress evidence.

A. General legal principles guiding the review of a search warrant.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and establish the requirements for the issuance of a search warrant. *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 27, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798.¹

The Fourth Amendment's Warrant Clause requires an officer seeking a search warrant to obtain prior judicial authorization from a neutral and detached magistrate. The officer must demonstrate on oath or affirmation that probable cause exists to believe that the evidence sought will aid in the apprehension or conviction for a particular offense. The search warrant must describe with particularity the place to be searched and the items to be seized. *Id.* ¶ 28.

Courts determine whether probable cause exists based on the totality of the circumstances. State v. Ward, 2000 WI 3, ¶ 26, 231 Wis. 2d 723, 604 N.W.2d 517. "Probable cause [for a search warrant] is not a technical, legalistic concept[,] but a flexible, common-sense measure of the plausibility of particular conclusions about human behavior." State v. Petrone, 161 Wis. 2d 530, 547-548, 468 N.W.2d 676 (1991), overruled on other grounds by, State v. Greve, 2004 WI 69, 272 Wis. 2d 444, 681 N.W.2d 479. Probable cause exists when the facts would lead a reasonable person to conclude that the evidence sought is likely to be found in a particular location, even if it is reasonable to conclude that the evidence may be located in a second or third location. Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 34. The quantum of evidence necessary to support a determination of probable cause for a search warrant is much less than that required for conviction, or even for bindover following a preliminary examination. State

¹ The Wisconsin Supreme Court has generally interpreted Article I., Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution and its protections against unreasonable searches and seizures in a manner consistent with the United States Supreme Court's interpretations of the Fourth Amendment. *State v. Tate*, 2014 WI 89, ¶ 27 n.16, 357 Wis. 2d 172, 849 N.W.2d 798.

v. Sloan, 2007 WI App 146, ¶ 23, 303 Wis. 2d 438, 736 N.W.2d 189.

Standard of review. A reviewing court accords "great deference" to a search warrant-issuing magistrate's probable cause determination. It will uphold the magistrate's probable cause determination unless the defendant establishes that the facts asserted in support of the warrant are "clearly insufficient" to support probable cause. *Ward*, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 21. This deferential standard of review furthers "the Fourth Amendment's strong preference for searches conducted pursuant to a warrant." *State v. Romero*, 2009 WI 32, ¶ 18, 317 Wis. 2d 12, 765 N.W.2d 756 (citation omitted).

B. Pantoja has not demonstrated that the facts presented in the affidavit were clearly insufficient to support the commissioner's probable cause determination.

Pantoja asserts that the affidavit failed to establish a sufficient nexus between the drug trafficking documented at the Winona Lane residence and the 1st Street residence. Therefore, he contends that the commissioner lacked probable cause to issue a warrant for the 1st Street residence. (Pantoja's Br. 8-16.)

Investigator Jason Baranek, a law enforcement officer experienced in drug investigations, prepared the affidavit in support of the search warrant for the 1st Street residence. (12:32-40.) His affidavit provided probable cause to believe that Pantoja was involved in the distribution of heroin from the Winona Lane residence, that Pantoja was connected to the 1st Street residence, and that he was using the 1st Street residence to facilitate heroin trafficking. 1. Controlled buys at the Winona Lane residence demonstrate that Pantoja and his brother, Miguel Pantoja,² distributed heroin at that location.

Baranek's affidavit established an ongoing pattern of heroin sales at the Winona Lane residence and Pantoja's involvement in those sales.

First controlled buy at the Winona Lane residence. In October 2013, the affiant conducted a controlled buy of heroin through Informant #1³ at the Winona Lane address. (12:34.) Informant #1 reported to Baranek what happened during the controlled buy. Informant #1 met with Christian, whom the Informant knew to be a runner and to do the hand-to-hand transactions for Pantoja. The informant gave Christian money, and Christian gave the Informant heroin.⁴ During the controlled buy, Baranek saw Pantoja standing on the Winona Lane residence's porch. Baranek also observed two vehicles of significance nearby. The first car was

 $^{^2}$ To avoid confusion with the appellant Marcus Pantoja, the State will refer to Miguel Pantoja by his first name throughout its brief.

³ The affidavit relies upon information and controlled buys conducted by two people, designated as "Informant #1" and "Informant #2." (12:33-35.) For consistency, the State uses the same designations in its brief.

⁴ With respect to each controlled buy, Baranek conducted a field test and determined that the results of those tests were consistent with the presence of heroin or another opiate. Further, based on the informants' statements, Baranek's observations of the packaging and substances' appearance, he believed the substance was heroin. (12:37.)

registered to CVR, a person believed to be Pantoja's girlfriend, with the 1st Street address.⁵ The second car, which had a plate number of 457-UST, was registered to Pantoja at the Winona Lane residence. (12:34.)

Second controlled buy at the Winona Lane residence. Within two weeks of his application for the search warrant, Baranek conducted another controlled buy with Informant #2 at the Winona Lane residence. Informant #2 reported to Baranek that he gave Carlos, whom the Informant knew was a runner and conducted hand-to-hand transactions for Pantoja, money and that Carlos gave him heroin in return. (12:35.)

Third controlled buy at the Winona Lane residence. Within five days of the search warrant application, Baranek used Informant #1 to conduct another controlled buy at the Winona Lane residence. Following the buy, Informant #1 advised Baranek that he gave Miguel money and Miguel gave Informant #1 heroin. (12:33.)

2. The affidavit establishes a nexus between Pantoja, drug trafficking, and the 1st Street residence

Relying on *Sloan*, 303 Wis. 2d 438, Pantoja asserts that there is an insufficient nexus between the drug trafficking activity at the Winona Lane residence and the 1st Street residence. (Pantoja's Br. 11-12.)

In *Sloan*, this Court declined to find that probable cause existed to search the residence at the return address listed on a package in which a shipping company found

⁵ Utility records also identified CVR's address as the 1st Street residence.

drugs. *Id.* ¶ 38. In reaching its decision, this Court noted that (a) no one reported seeing anyone at the residence; (b) there was no other evidence of Sloan's involvement with drug related activity; or (c) there were no reports of drug activity at this address. *Id.* ¶ 32.

In contrast, Baranek connected Pantoja to drug trafficking activity at the 1st Street residence through his own observations, Miguel's statements to Informant #1, Informant #1's assisting Pantoja with transporting heroin to and from the 1st Street residence, and Pantoja's statements to Informant #2.

Baranek's personal observations. Within 72 hours of the search warrant application, Baranek observed Pantoja leave the 1st Street residence and drive a Toyota with plate 457-UST. (12:36.) Informant #2 had previously seen Pantoja transport heroin in this car. (12:36.)

Miguel's statements to Informant #1. Within five days of the search warrant application, Miguel told Informant #1 that Pantoja lived on 1st Street. Miguel stated that they kept heroin at 1st Street because Miguel and Marcos feared a police raid or robbery at the Winona Lane residence. (12:36.)

Informant #1's assistance to Pantoja moving heroin to and from the 1st Street residence. Within one week of the search warrant application, Informant #1 drove Pantoja and with a quantity of heroin from the 1st Street residence to the Winona Lane residence. Informant #1 then gave Pantoja a ride to another location where Informant #1 believed that Pantoja had made a large-scale heroin purchase. Informant #1 then drove Pantoja back to the 1st Street residence. Informant #1 informed Baranek that Informant #1 could see Pantoja in the windows at the 1st Street residence. (12:35.) Pantoja then left the apartment and he and Informant #1 drove back to the Winona Lane residence. Informant #1 claimed that he observed approximately 40 bags of heroin being transported to the Winona Lane residence during this tip. Informant #1 told Baranek that Pantoja had provided Informant #1 with heroin in exchange for his driving Pantoja. (12:36.)

Pantoja's statements to Informant #2. Within two weeks of Baranek's application for the search warrant, Pantoja told Informant #2 that he was concerned about the police raiding the Winona Lane residence and that he had moved in with his girlfriend at the 1st Street residence. Pantoja identified the 1st Street address where he was currently living. Informant #2 also saw Pantoja go to the 1st Street residence. (12:36.)

Based on the detailed investigation documented in the affidavit, the commissioner could reasonably conclude that Pantoja used the 1st Street residence to store heroin distributed from the Winona Lane residence. See Ward, 231 Wis. 2d 723, ¶ 34 (recognizing that probable cause may simultaneously exist for several locations). Because of Pantoja's and Miguel's concerns that they might be robbed or raided at Winona Lane, the commissioner could also reasonably conclude that they kept the heroin and the proceeds from heroin sales at the 1st Street residence where Pantoja resided.

3. The affidavit establishes a basis to believe Informant #1's and Informant #2's statements.

Pantoja asserts that the affidavit failed to establish the credibility of either informant. (Pantoja's Br. 13-16.) But based on the totality of the circumstances as alleged in the affidavit, the commissioner could find that the informants were reliable and that they had personal knowledge of Pantoja's distribution of heroin and the nexus to the 1st Street residence.

Both an informant's veracity and the basis of the informant's knowledge are closely intertwined considerations in assessing probable cause. *Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 20. But both factors should be viewed in light of the totality of the circumstances rather than as discrete elements of a more rigid test. *State v. Rutzinski*, 2001 WI 22, ¶ 18, 241 Wis. 2d 729, 623 N.W.2d 516.

To this end, the affidavit must contain facts to enable the magistrate to "evaluate either the credibility of the declarant or the reliability of the particular information furnished." *Romero*, 317 Wis. 2d 12, ¶ 21. The facts may permit the magistrate to infer that the declarant has supplied reliable information on a particular occasion by corroboration of details. *Id*. This corroboration may be sufficient to support a search warrant. *Id*. "If a declarant is shown to be right about some things, it may be inferred that he is probably right about other facts alleged." *Id*.

"The basis of a declarant's knowledge is most directly shown by an explanation of how the declarant came by his or her information." *Id.* ¶ 22. "The extent to which a search warrant's supporting affidavit must demonstrate the veracity and basis of knowledge of a declarant may vary depending on the circumstances specific to each case." *Id.* ¶ 23.

In a drug investigation, a single, rigorously conducted controlled buy may be sufficient to establish an informant's veracity. *State v. Hanson*, 163 Wis. 2d 420, 423-24, 471 N.W.2d 301 (Ct. App. 1991) ("After all, there must always be a first time for the use of an informant, and if sufficient care is taken to verify his or her information, such as through a controlled buy, there is no constitutional reason for us to consider it insufficient.").

The affidavit established the informants' prior reliability. Here, both informants had a past history of reliability. With respect to Informant #1, Baranek stated that Informant #1 had previously made three controlled substance buys that resulted in charges and convictions of two individuals for drug offenses. In addition, Informant #1 had provided information to the affiant and other officers that Baranek corroborated through a review of law enforcement records. (12:37-38.)

Informant #2 had made three successful controlled substances buys in pending, ongoing cases. In addition, Informant #2 also provided information to the affiant and other officers that Baranek corroborated through a review of law enforcement records. (12:38.)

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